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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

MICHAEL HENDERSON
Plaintiff,
V.
Civil Action No. 17-284GCKK)
ANDREW SAUL, Commissioner of

Social Security

Defendant

MEMORANDUM OPINION
(October28, 2019)

Plaintiff Michael Hendersorbrings this suiseeking review of Defendant Commissioner
Andrew Saul'dinal administrative decision denying his claim for Supplemental Secagtnie
(“SSI') pursuant to 42J.S.C. 8405(g). Pending before th€ourt areMr. Hendersors Motion for
Judgment of Reversal, ECF No. 14, and the CommisssoMation for Judgment of Affirmance
and Opposition to Plaintiff Motion for Judgment of Reversal, ECF No. 15. Upon consideration

of the briefing? the administrative record, arttie relevant legal authorities, the Court shall

! Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 25(d), AndrewiSaulbstitutechs Defendarfor
former Acting Commissioner Nancy A. Berryhill
2 The Court’s consideration has focused on the following documents:

e Plaintiff's Brief in Support of Motion for Judgment of Reversal (“Pl.’s Mot.”),FENo.
14-1;

e Defendant’'s Memorandum in Support of Her Motion for Judgment of Affirmance and in
Opposition to Plaintiff’'s Motion for Judgment of Reversal (“Def.’'s Combined Mam.
Opp’n”), ECF No. 15; and

e Plaintiff’'s Reply Brief in Support of Motion for Judgment of Reversal (“Pl.’s Reply”), ECF
No. 17.

In an exercise of its discretion, the Court finds that holding oral argum#ms iaction would not
be of assistance in rendering a decisteel CVR 7(f).
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GRANT IN PART andDENY IN PART Mr. Henderson’s Motion for Judgment of Reversal and
GRANT IN PART and DENY IN PART the Commissionés Motion for Judgment of
Affirmance.
. BACKGROUND

Mr. Hendersorpetitioned the Social Security Administration for SSIApril 25, 2013
Pl’s Mot. at 1 Administrative Record“A.R.”) ECF No. 11, at 70, 82. To qualify for SSI, a
claimant must demonstrate ‘@nability to engage in any substantial gainful activityrbgison of
any medically determinable physical or mental impairrheatipled with an inability téengage
in any other kind of substantial gainful work which exists in the national ecohof@yu.S.C.§
423d)(1)H2). By satisfying both conditions, a alant is“disabled’for the purposes of the
Social Security Act. To decide whether a claimant has proven he is disabléd,Jtmust use a
five-step sequential analysis. @O0F.R. 8804.1520, 416.920. The ALJ determines (1) the
claimants current worlactivity, (2) the severity of his impairments, (3) whether the impairments
meet or equal listed impairments, (#hot, whetherthe impairment preventde claimant from
doing past work, and (5)hetherthe impairment prevents him from doing other wopomn
consideration of the claimdstresidual functional capaciRFC’), age, education, and past work
experience See20 C.F.R. 88404.1520, 416.92@utler v. Barnhart353 F.3d 992, 997 (D.C. Cir.
2004). The claimant carries the burden on the first four steps, but the burden shiftageicy
on step five.Butler, 353 F.3cat 997 (citing 20C.F.R. 88 404.1520, 416.920).

In his application for SSI, Mr. Hendersatleged that his disabilities includebbetes,

lung cancer, andariousissues with his kidneys and badk.R. at 7Q 82 He wasforty-eightand



a resident of Washington, D.@t the time® Id. His claimwasinitially denied on February 18,
2014. 1d. at 80(“While you are not capable of performing work you have done in the past, you
are able to perform work that is less demandjnél. s Mot. at 1 (noting denial)lt wasdenied
again upon reconsideration on July 31, 2014. A.B7 étWe have detenined that your condition
is not severe enough to keep you from working.we have determined that you can adjust to
other work’); PI.’s Mot. atl-2(noting denial). Following these denials, Mr. Hendersguested
a hearing before an Administrative Law Judt&LJ”). Pl’s Mot. at 2; A.R. at 124.

The records also indicate that several physicians and a mental health specialkgeéval
Mr. Henderson during the period of alleged disability. Three of those examinarssirelevant
to Mr. Hendeson’s arguments: Dr. Rebecca Brosch,Bliot Aleskow and DrJoelTaubin. First,
Dr. Brosch, Psy.D., evaluated Mr. Henderson on July 22, 2014. A.R. at 487. Her evaluation notes
includedwhat Mr. Henderson told her, hewn observationsand her ultinate medical source
statement A.R. at487-92. To begin with, she explained that Mr. Henderson told her that it was
a“recurring pattern for hifmto be“fired or laid off from almost all of his jobdecause ofhis
inability to control his tempérand being generally aggressive toward othdds.at 487. Mr.
Henderson reportetkignificant anger and aggression, impulsivity, [and] inability to control his
tempey” as well as paranoid ideatiofi,which resulted in hinilashing out at others.Id. at 488
During the evaluation, he presented iastable, suspicious, and distresseand he had difficulty
relating or making eye contactid. at 489. His speech wa¥flluent and cledr and he had
“[ glenerally coherent and goal directedought processealthough hé presented as somewhat

paranoid.” Id. Mr. Henderson exhibitetiemotional distress, anxiety, and nervoush&sshis

3 When héefirst petitioned for SSI, Mr. Henderson contended that his impairments rendered him
unable to work effective December 31, 2009. A.R. at 70. He later altered the onset date t
February 1, 2012 at his hearing. A.R. at 13, 35.
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evaluation and wastearful throughout a significant portion of the evaluationd. at 490.
Consequently, Dr. Brosch thought his attention and concentration skills were impdired.
Dr. Brosch ultimately opined that Mr. Henderstappear[ed] to be able to follow and
understand simple directiofisld. at490-91. She also outlined her other findings:
Mild to moderately limited in his ability to perform simple tasks. Moderately
limited in his ability to maintain attention and concentration. He appears to be able
to maintain a schedule. Mild to moderately limited in his ability to learn new tasks.
Moderate to markedly limited in his ability to perform complex tasks
independently. M&edly limited in his ability to make appropriate decisions, relate
adequately with others, and appropriately deal with stress. His difficutees a
caused by mood disturbance, impulse control problems, anger management
difficulties, impulsivity, and paranoid ideation.
Id. at 491. She explained that these isstiegy significantly interfere with the claimastability
to function on a daily basis.Id.
Second, DrAleskow M.D., evaluated Mr. Henderson on November 25, 2013. A.R. at 443.
Dr. Aleskow’s evaluation focused on what Mr. Henderson reported, ratherothdis own
opinions. SeeA.R. at443-45. Among other things, DAleskow noted that Mr. Henderson
complained oftingling and numbness in his hands and feghich led to him sometimes Wiag
“difficulty handling and carrying objects because of the numbnddsat 443. Mr. Henderson
told Dr. Aleskowthat he hadintermittent resting tremofrs.Id. Dr. Aleskow s examination also
revealed that Mr. Henderson haaresting tremat,which was"worse on the right than the 1éft,
and that he had “4/Band grip strength bilaterally, but had some difficulties with fine motor skills
in both hands. Id. at444-45. Dr. Aleskow’s final discussion further stated that Mr. Henderson
had ‘a tremor 6 unknown etiology. Id. at 445.
Third, Dr. Taubin, M.D., evaluated Mr. Henderson on January 23, 2014. A.R. at 452. Dr.

Taubinsimilarly noted that Mr. Henderson héd fine tremor of his right haficand that his right

hand was “tremulousjeading to difficulty writing with the hand. Id. at 454. According to Dr.



Taubin, Mr. Henderson h&a/5 [grip] on the right and 5/5 on he Iéftld. He also stated, however,
that Mr. Hendersofiwrote his name on the card with no difficultyld. In his final impressions,
Dr. Taubin explained that Mr. Henderson hdgitfremor of the right haridand a‘[ h]istory of a
tremor’ 1Id. at 455. He concluded that Mr. Henderson could“nse fine dexterity because of
[the] tremor of his right hand.Id.

Following his evaluations and the previous denial of his claim, Mr. Hendsrsmieo
hearing occurred on June 28, 2016. A.R. at 13 Rlot. at 2. At the hearing, Mr. Henderseas
represented bgounseland a vocational expeftVE”), Patricia L. Chilleri, testified. A.R. at 13,
31-32, 53. The VE did not provide any pre-hearing reg@itts Mot. at 17 n.7. Counsel fodr.
Hendersombjected to th¥/E testifying, alleging thaghe lackedjualifications.A.R. at 54. When
guestioned about what other work Mr. Hendersonld perform, the VE referenced jobs as
described in the Dictionary of Titld8DOT”) and provided national numbers for those joluk.
at 57. She identified three jobs in particulaveigher, checker, and measurer (sample DOT code
299.587010) with approximately 24,400 jobs nationwide; sorter, sampler, tester, andtanspec
(sample DOT code 789.6846) with approximately 16,500 jobs nationwide; and billing, packing,
and wrapping worker (sample DOT code 920-688) with approximately 19,300 jobs
nationwide. Id.

The ALJ did not question the methodology by which the VE determined the job numbers
provided. See idat54-58. Counsel foMr. Hendersomlid question how the VE determingtbse
job numbers:

Q Okay and what methodology or process did you use to reach the conclusions

of the number of jobs available in the national economy for the sample jobs
you presented today?

A Well, | use government publications, starting with the DOT and
supplements and then work with the Bureau of Research andi&tatisd
the Labor Market Analystsn obtaining information from the American
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Community Survey and the Long Term Occupational Employment
Projections and | also utilize source[s] such as SkillTRAN and the
Northeast-the Northern American  Occupational Systemnd a
Classification.

Id. at 604 Counsel for Mr. Hendersaroncluded by requesting that the record be left open to
submit a poshearing brief The ALJ grantedthat request and left the record open for an
additional fourteen daydd. at61-62.

Mr. Hendersorsubsequently submittexh eightpageposthearing brief with objections to
the VEs testimony.See idat 252-60. In addition to objecting to the V4qualifications again,
the brief detailed other objectignmost of whichappeared targwe that the VEs testimony was
unreliable for numerous reasonsirst, Mr. Henderson contended that some of the resources used
by the VE were noteliable government publications, which can be administratively noticed by
the ALJ, and were instead privat®@gramsor resourcesld. at252-53. MoreoverMr. Henderson
explained, because the DOT has not been updated in decades, there is no reliabiartcoag
to translate current job data from the Department of Labor and U.S. Census BureaD@ the
titles. Id. at 253. As the VE did not explain which programs from SkillTRAN she uded,
Hendersonlisted objections to all three commercially available prograhe® Browser Pro,
Occubrowse, and OASYSId. at 253-57. He additionally objected on thesimthat the jobs
discussed at the hearing are no longer performed at the unskilled leveladdnyithe VE, and
because those same jobs required more social interaction than identified by tkdeatE57-59.
Lastly, he objected to a decision beinde without an additional hearing to address these

guestions raised about the \#8estimony.ld. at 259.

4 The original transcript used underlined text to describe some of the sources.odhdad
omitted this formatting here.

® This request was also included in the-pearing brief that Mr. Henderson submitted. A.R. at
247 (requesting thirty days). The phearing briefexplainedthat the request was related to
researching and responding to any VE testimddy.
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The ALJ issued a decision that denied Mr. Hendéssolaim for benefits o@ctober 26,
2016 Id. at 13-23. Before beginning the fivetep anbysis, the ALJ addressed some of Mr.
Hendersors objections. Id. at 13. First, the ALJ overruled hi®bjection to the vocational
experts testimony regarding jobs numbers and the eXpenethodology in determining jobs
numbers. Id. He explained that

Social Security Administration regulation requires the undersigiwedake

administrative notice of reliable job information available from various

publications, including the [DOT] and other government sources, used by the

vocational expert in this ca$8SR 004p; 20 C.F.R. 404.1566(d) and 416.966(d)).

Moreover, the Social Security Administration uses vocational experts bebayse t

are qualified to resolve complex vocational issues, such as testifying about the

number of jobs available in the natiomalonomy from information produced by

the Bureau of Labor Statistics. The undersigned relies on Social Security

regulations 2@.F.R. 404.1560(b)(2), 404.1566(d), and 416.966(d) and takes
administrative notice of this job data.

Id. The ALJ further overrded Mr. Hendersots objection that, in the decisianlanguage’the
jobs identified by the vocational expert at the hearing are no longer availddle. The ALJ
emphasized thadte took ‘administrative notice of the reliable job information availahtethe
DOT andin “one or more of the publications identified ithhe regulations a&eliable sourcée's
that were relied upon by the VHd. at 14. Lastly, the ALJ denied Mr. Hendens's request for a
supplemental hearing because“epresentative had ample opportunity to question the vocational
expert at the hearing.ld.

After addressinghe objections, the decision laid out the Ad findings. First, the ALJ
found that Mr. Henderson had not been engaged in substantial gainful activity sing@ibaian
date. Id. at 16. Next, the ALJ found that Mr. Henderson had several severe impairmemtsnic
obstructive pulmonary disease(]JCOPD), diabetes mellitus, diabetic newathy, obesity,
hypertension, lumbar radiculopathy, and affective disdrd&t. Then, the ALJ found that Mr.

Henderson did not have any impairment or combination of impairments thathmesteverity of



one of the listed impairments in 20F.R. Part 404, Subpart P, Appendix 1 26.R. 416.920(d),
416.925 and 416.926).Id. The ALJ madeseveralspecific relevant findingbere With respect
to Mr. Hendersors physical healththe ALJ did not addresat this step the tremors thtite
consultative phsicians described. See id.at 16-17. Instead, the ALJ concluded that Mr.
Henderson had ‘amild restrictiori in the*activities of daily living based on his daily activities.
Id. at 17. The ALJ further found that Mr. Henderson had moderate difficuwitiths social
functioning and moderate difficulties witlsdncentration, persistence or pacéd.

In determining Mr. Hendersés RFC the ALJ found that Mr. Henderson hathe [RFC]
to perform light workK;, except that hémust avoid unprotected heights and dangerous macHinery.
Id. at 18. Mr. Hendersooould “frequently use his bilateral hands for fine manipulation and gross
handling and was'limited to simple, routine tasks, withspecific vocational preparation of 2 or
below, with few workplace changésid. Additionally, the ALJ concluded that Mr. Henderson
could *have occasional interaction with-emrkers and supervisors, but [could] never interact
with the general publicand ‘should not engage in any tandem, team, or group work activity.

The ALJ detailed his findings, some of which are relevant here. To begin with, in
discussing Mr. Henderstsaffective disorder and mental health, he noted that Mr. Henderson had
“never received any mental health treatment and is not taking any mentahiediltation, which
is inconsistent with his allegations and suggests that his symptoms may notberasas has
been alleged. Id. at20. The ALJoutlined the ultimaténdings of consultative examiner Rebecca
Brosch, PsyD, and concluded tHptihe undersigned has accounted for any possible limitations
resulting from the claimatst affective disorder in his residual functional capatitig.

Next, the ALJ proceeded to plain the weight given to various medical opiniond. at

20-222 In particular, he gavdittle weight to the opinion of the consultative examiner, Dr. Joel



Taubin; who had opined that Mr. Henderson could ‘ege fine dexterity because of tremor of
his right hand. Id. at 21. The ALJ also explained that he gdseabstantial weight to the opinion
of consultative examiner, Dr. Rebecca Brosch, that the claimant appear[ed] te be fatiow
and understand simplastructions. Id. While the ALJreferencedconsultativephysicianDr.
Aleskow’s reportthroughouhis decision, he didotdetail all ofDr. Aleskow sreport orexplicitly
explain what weight he had givéas opinion in particular Seg e.g, id. at 19 (mentioning what
Mr. Henderson told Dr. Aleskovwegarding abilities abilitigs

At steps four and five, the ALJ found that Mr. Henderson was unable to perfornasiny p
relevant work, but that there wehebs that exist in significant numbers in the national economy
that” he could performld. at 22. In his step five discussion, fie] listed the three representative
occupations provided by the VE at the hearing and quotgdlilkeaumbers providedly the VE.

Id. at 23. The ALJwholly relied on the testimony of the VE in determining whether Mr. Henderson
could perform other job$at exist in significant numbers nationallg.

Mr. Hendersorsought review of the AL3 determination by the Appeals Counaihich
found no basis to grant the request for revidwR. atl-5 Having exhausted his administrative
remedies, MrHenderson has brought this action seeking judicial review.

1. LEGAL STANDARD

The Social Security Act definéslisability’” as an“inability to engage in any substantial
gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical otahimpairmentvhich can
be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to lastfiouaws period
of not less than 12 months.” 42 U.S.C. § 423(d)(1)(A). Inability to engage in substantial gainful
activity not only includes the individual inability to do his previous work, but also requires as

well an inability,” considering his age, education, and work experience, [to] engage in any other



kind of substantial gainful work which exists in the national economy, regardle$etifar such
work exists in the immediate area in which he lives, or whether a specific job vacansyf@xis
him, or whether he would be hired if he applied for workd. 8 423(d)(2)(A). In making this
determination through the previously outlined fstep process, the ALJ is to consider medical
data and findingsexpert medical opinionssubjective complaintsand theclaimants age,
education, and work historysee Davis v. Hecklgb66F. Supp. 1193, 1196 (D.D.C. 1983).

On judicial review,[ t]he findings of the&Commissioner of Social Security as to any fact,
if supported by substantial evidence, shall be conclisivi2 U.S.C. & 405(g) Under the
substantial evidence standard, a court considers whether there is suffictrice in the
administrative recortb support the Commissionsifactual determinationsSubstantial evidence
is “more than mere scintilld and means only such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind
might accept as adequate to support a conclusidBiestek v. BerryhiJl139S. Ct. 1148, 1154
(2019) (quotingConsolidated Edison Co. v. NLRBO5U.S. 197, 229 (1938))The test can be
satisfied by‘something less than a preponderance of the evideida. Mun. Power Agency V.
FERGC 315F.3d 362, 366 (D.C. Cir. 2003)n reviewing an administrative decision, a court may
not determine the weight of the evidence, caorit substitute its judgment for that of the Secretary
if hisdecision is based on substantial evideridatler, 353F.3d at 999Hays v. Sullivan907F.2d
1453, 1456 (4th Cir. 1990). Instead, the reviewing court must carefully scrutinize theesmntile
to determine whether the Secretary, acting through the ALJ, has analyzedeaildbnce and has
sufficiently explained the weiglhie has given to obviously probative materiBlutler, 353F.3d at
999; Hays 907F.2dat 1456. “Because the broad puges of the Social Security Act require a
liberal construction in favor of disability, the court must view the evidence in ghe finost

favorable to the claimant.Martin v. Apfe] 118F. Supp. 2d 9, 13 (D.D.C. 2000).
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The reviewing court musalso detemine whether credible evidence was properly
consideredby the ALJ Id. The ALJs final decision must contain a statementfofdings and
conclusions, and the reasons or the basis therefor, dheathaterial issues of fact, law, or
discretion presented on the recdr8.U.S.C. 8557(c). An ALJ cannot merely disregard evidence
that does not support his conclusid@eeDionnev. Heckler 585F. Supp.1055, 1060D. Maine
1984) A reviewing court should not be left guessiegto how the ALJ evaluated probative
materialand it is reversible error for an ALJ to fail in his written decision to expldificiemtly
the weight he has given to certain probative items of evid&maein, 118F. Supp.2d at 13. In
short, the ALJ mustbuild an accurate and logical bridge from the evidence to [his] conclusion so
that, as a reviewing court, we may assess the validity of the agaiftopate findings and afford
a claimant meaningful judicial revieiw.LaneRauth v. Barnhatt437F. Supp. 2d 63, 67 (D.D.C.
2006) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quotiSgott v. Barnhart297F.3d 589, 595 (7th Cir.
2002)).

[11. DISCUSSION

Mr. Henderson advances three grounds on whiclLidés decision should beeversed
and remanded for further administrative proceedings. First, he contends thial threed either
by notmeaningfullyaddressing Mr. Henders@posthearing objections axplaining his reliance
on the VEs testimony. Pls Mot. at4—17. Second, he claims that the ALJ did not properly weigh
the opinion of consultative examiner Dr. Brostth.at19-24. Lastly, he argues that the ALJ erred
by not making any findings regarding Mr. Hendefsamemorsat step two and by insufficiently

addressing Dr. Taubimand Dr. Aleskow’s opinions regarding his tremoic. at 24—28.
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A. The ALJ’s Failure to Explain His Relianamn the Vocational Expednd Address Mr.
Hendersors Ohections

Mr. Hendersots first argumentwhich concernghe ALJs response to his objectigns
breaks down intéwo distinct argumentskirst, heargues that the ALJ made a procedural error in
insufficiently addressinlylr. Hendersots objections in thaltimate decision. He suggests that he
is owed procedural due process and that the process owed to him is embedded in the@gency
manual, which requirethat the agency respondat objections raisedSee, e.gid. at 4(“[ The
ALJ] still erred byfailing to address potentially outcordeterminative objections to the testimony
of the vocational expert before relying on this testimony to deny benefits.’gt 9 (“Again,
Plaintiff's assignment of error is that the ALJ was required to substbn#iddress his objections
(because, as Plaintiff explains next it is facially relevant to thesAdt&p 5 burden) and did not.”).

Second healternativelycontends that the ALS failure to address his objections and his
summary reliance on the V& testimony in the face of those objections precludes meaningful
judicial review. See, e.g.d. at 5 (explaining that alleged errbrequire[es]remand because it
undermines the AL3 step 5 finding that there is other work th@mant can do, and effectively
precludes meaningful judicial revié id. at 13—14(outlining how ALJ did not explaiwhether
VE testimony was reliable in response to objections calling into question refjabditat 17
(“Ultimately, the ALJs failure to properly address an outcedeterminative objection to the V&
testimony precludes meaningful judicial reviewaw/hether the ALJ’s step 5 finding is supported
by substantial evidence.”).

The Court agrees with Mr. Henderson that the’Altdeatment of his objections, and his

summary reliance on the V&testimony despite those objections, precludes meaningfaive
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The Court therefore does not reach Mr. Hendessmiwcedural due process argumeént.

The ALJ plays an important rola the disability determination procesd n a disability
proceeding, the ALJhas the power and the dutyittvestigate fully all matters in issue, and to
develop the comprehensive record required for a fair determination of disabligpms v.
Sullivan 877 F.2d 1047, 1050 (D.C. Cir. 1989) (quotDigbo v. Sety of HEW 627 F.2d 278,
281 (D.C. Cir. 1980))An ALJ may*“receive evidencednd ‘examine witnessesibout contested
issues in a hearing and may even receive evidenceéWwmatld not be admissible in colirt.
42U.S.C. 88405(b)(1), 1383(c)(1)(A); 2C.F.R. 88404.950(c), 416.1450(c). In other words t
ALJ serves a%an examiner charged with developing the fad&chardson v. Peralegl02 U.S.
389, 410 (1971), and he has a duty'tievelop the arguments both for and against granting
benefits,”Sims v. Apfel530 U.S. 103, 111 (2000).

This carries over into step five of the sequential analysis, in which the agency has the
burden to demonstrate that the claimant is able to perfatimer workbased on a consideration

of [his] ‘residual functional capacityRFC), age, education and past work experién@&utler,

® The Commissioner argues that Mr. Henderson’s objections were waived béegusete not
raisedat the hearingonly in the poshearing briefing Because this Court decides the case on the
basis that the ALJ failed to provide sufficient reasoning on step five, thé dims not reach this
argument. However, it is worth noting that it is far from clear that the objectioesweded, as

the ALJ specifically allowed the record to stay open for{pesiring briefing and further ruled on

at leassome of the objections in his decision. The cases cited by the Commissioner do esit sugg
otherwise. In each of those cases, there wastampt by the claimant’s representative to preserve
any objections by asking to leave the record open and neither did the ALJ rule orthiembpt
issue. See Liskowitz v. Astrug59 F.3d 736, 744 (7th Cir. 2009) (explaining that claimant raised
issue for first time in reply brieflHammond v. Chaterl16 F.3d 148(Table) at *3 (6th Cir.
1997) (noting that plaintiff did not raise issue at hearikigrris v. Comm’r of Soc. Sec. Admin.
No. 1:1:CV-1290, 2012NVL 4434078, at *3*4 (N.D. Ohio Sept. 24, 2012) (explaining that
plaintiff waived argument by not raising it during hearing at all).
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353F.3d at 997see20 C.F.R. §8404.1520(f), 416.920(f). As part of this determination, the ALJ
can“take administrative notice ofliable job information available from various governmental
ard other publication’ including the DOT. 20 C.F.R. § 404.156@) (emphasis added)For
guidanceon whether jobs exist in the national econpty_Js often seek the views wiocational

experts” who are“professionals under contract with SSA to proviagartial testimony in
agency proceedingsBiestek 139S. Ct. at 1152 (internal quotation marks omittedg20 C.F.R.

88 404.1560(b}04.1566(e), 416.966(HSR 0&4p. The evidence presented by VEs can include
information from outside th®OT, induding “other reliable publications, information obtained
directly from employers, or from a V& or VSs experience in job placement or career
counseling.” SSR 064p.

On review, however, the ALS reliance on such an expert must still clearsthiestantial
evidence standayavhichis determined on a cabg-case basisSee Biestekl39S. Ct. at 1157
(finding that vocational expesd withholding of documentary basis for opinioray sometimes
“prevent [such}estimony from qualifying as substaaitevidenc& and noting that this inquiry is
“caseby-casé); Donahue v. Barnhayt279F.3d 441, 446 (7th Cir. 2002explaining that
testimony from vocational expert is not substantial if it is not reliable &momgured out of whole
cloth’). And “with regard to an AL3 reasoning the Court may only consider the grounds
proffered by the agency in its decisicand can neither credipost hoc rationalizatiofi®ffered
by the parties nor weigh the evidence for itsékttles v. Colvinl21F. Supp. 3dL63, 169-70
(D.D.C. 2015)internal quotation marks omitted) (quotiBgpinosa v. Colvir®53F. Supp. 2d 25,

33 (D.D.C. 2013)see alscSEC v. Chenery Corp332U.S. 194, 1961947) ([ A] simple but

fundamental rule of administrative law .is to the effect that a reviewing court, in dealing with a

determination or judgment which an administrative agency alone is authariatté, must judge
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the propriety of such action solely by the grounds invoked by the afjei@ark v. Astrue826F.
Supp. 2d 13, 20 (D.D.C. 201 A] court may only consider the grounds proffered by the agency
in its decision, as post hoc rationalizations will not suffjceAccordingly, the ALJ musbuild
“an accurate and logical bridge from the evidence to [his] conclugiafford a reviewing court
the opportunity to provide the claimant witmeaningful judicial review. Lane-Rauth437F.
Supp. 2cat 67 (internal quotation marks omitte¢fjuotingScott 297 F.3d at 595).

In light of the objections raised by Mr. Henderson,deeisionfailed to meet this standard
While the ALJ does not necessarily have an affirmative duty to question ekkerggdrding her
methodology, objections by a claimant may call into question the reliability of & té&imony.
See, e.g.Biestek 139S. Ct. at 1157Lynch v. Astruge358F. Appgx 83, 88 (11th Cir. 2009)
Haskins-Scott v. SguNo. 6:18CV-975-ORL-CPT, 2019 WL 3956195, at *4 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 22,
2019) Courtney v. Berryhill 385F. Supp. 3d 761763—64 (W.D.Wis. 2018). That is the case
here: Mr. Henderson raised numerous detailed objections in hibga#tg brief that questioned
the reliability of the evidence relied upon by the ®id her methodologySeeA.R. 252-60.
Although the merits of these obgions are not before the Court, they appear tthbeoughly
researchedoncerns raised by the claimant about W#ig&s methodology in determining jobs
numbers. See suprdart | (discussing objections in more depth). Despite these objections, the
ALJ relied on the VEs testimony.Yet the ALJ neitheexplainedhis decision in any meaningful
way nor built a record to support that decistbat would allow this Court to meaningfully review
it.

Overall, the decisids treatment of Mr. Henders@objections wagsonclusory Take, for
example, the objection that Mr. Henderson highlights in his Motion. He objected on tHahzsis

the jobs named by the vocational expert are no longer performed as unskilled5bsaviot. at
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11; seeA.R. at 257. It is unclear whether the ALJ addressed this objection, as therddoiss
not frame its rulings in those terms Instead, the ALJ overruleddlfobjection that the jobs
identified by the vocational expert at the hearing are no longer avdilaglehich he may have
meant to overrule this objection. A.R. at 13. But Mr. Henderson did not make an objeiitign fit
that description. Either the ALJ overruled an objection that was not raised, misoodevit
Hendersors objectionwas imprecise in hieuling, or did notrule on that objection at alAny of
these options precludes this Court from meaningfully reviewing both thes Akiérruling of Mr.
Hendersors objections and the ALS ultimatedecision’ The same is true of Mr. Henderssn
other objections, several of which alsayhave gone unaddressed by the AChmpareA.R. at
252-60 (listing objections) with id. at 13—14 @ppearing to addressnly two objectionsor
categories of objectiohs

Therest of theALJ’s explanation of his reliance, especially in light of Mr. Hendésson
objections, is also lacking. For instance, the ALJ was uncleanvdsi¢b publications he noticed

other than the DOY. SeeA.R. at13-14, 2223. He described them d®other govemment

" The ALJ similarly overruled Mr. Hendersa objection to the vocational experttestimony
regarding jobs numbers and the expgerhethodology in determining jobsA.R. at 13. 1t is
possible based on these broad descriptions that the ALJ was trying to overrtdendersotrs
objection regarding the jobskill levels (or overruling all his objections in this vein). But the fact
that it is unclear on thiace of the decision whether the ALJ meant to overrule this objection is
problematic, as the Court consequently cannot say whether these decisionsasezteon
substantial evidenceSeeBriscoe ex rel. Taylor v. Barnhard25F.3d 345, 351 (7th Cir. 260

(“In addition to relying on substantial evidence, the ALJ must also explain hisssnafythe
evidence with enough detail and clarity to permit meaningful appellate reyiew.”

8 In addition, the ALExplained that he was requiré takeadministrative notice of reliable job
information availablé from the DOT A.R. at 13 But it is unclear that the ALInusttake
administrative notice of information from the DOT. Other courts have found that eelisnor
taking administrative noticef the DOT and other similar government publications was not
supported by substantial evidence in certain circumstances because the DOtdedsd or
unreliable. See, e.g.Cunningham v. Astrye860F. Appg x 606, 615 (6th Cir. 2010) (explaining
that whie Commissioner can take administrative notice of D@®mmon sense dictates that
when such descriptions appear obsolete, a more recent source of information should be
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sources,” this job datd, and ‘one or more of the publications identified byQF.R. 404.1566(d)
and 416.966(d) but he never specified exactly which sources he was discussing. AJR14t
This presents several issues. First, this lack of clarity on its ownugesckthe Court from
meaningfully reviewing the AL3 decisionbecause it cannot determine whether the’aLJ
decision was based on substantial evideSesFreeman v. Astryé816F. Supp. 2d 611, 615 (E.D.
Wis. 2011)(“ An ALJ must minimally articulate his reasons for crediting or rejecting evéleh
disability build[ing] an accurate and logical bridge from the evidence to his conclu@idarnal
guotaton marks and citations omitted) (quotid@iifford v. Apfe] 227F.3d 863,870 (7th Cir.
2000))) Second, not all the job information provided by or relied upon by thewed a
publication identified in the regulations. The VE testified thatstesinformation from the North
American Industry Classification Systetnsind SkillTRAN, which are not government
publicationdisted in the regulationgnd are thus notecessarily presumed to tediable A.R. at
60 (not describing these two resources as government publicasiee®);,C.F.R. 88404.1566(d),
416.966(d). It is unclear to what extent the VE relied upon these sources in detgijotisin
numbersas compared to solely government publications, but if the ALJ did in fact intend to
administratively notice this information, it ialso uncertainon what basis he found that
information—and the VEs methodology in using that informatiesreliable which is similarly
problematic.See Sams v. BerryhiNo. 1:17CV15CAS, 2017 WL 3974239, at *7 (N.D. Fla. Sept.
8, 2017) (“Reliability is the guiding star when considering job informationdelreby the ALJ in
determining whether there are jobs in significant numbers in the national ectivadrthe Plaitiff

can perform when the RFC is considefed.

consulted).
° The VE referred to this as the “Northern American Occupational Syste@lassification.”
A.R. at 60.
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In short the ALJfailed to meaningfullyexplain why he relied on the VEespite Mr.
Hendersors objections Nor did he develop any record supporting his reliance in lightasfe
objections. Nothing in the record reflects that the ALJ consulted the VE on, fandas the
resources upon which she relied or her methodology. In fact, he denied Mr. Herxlergaest
for a supplemental hearing to address the concerns raised in his objecti@nat ¢ The ALJ,
however, must develop the record and adequately explain his reasoning to allow meaningful
review See, e.g.Chavez v. Berryhill895F.3d 962, 970 (7th Cir. 2018)The ALJ needed to do
more than just ask questions; she needed to hold the ¥Ecount for the reliability of his jeb
number estimatey, cert. denied139S. Ct. 8082019) Cichocki v. Astrug729 F.3d 172, 177 (2d
Cir. 2013)(“Remand may be appropriate, however, wherenadequacies in the Alslanalysis
frustrate meaningful reviety; Kastner v. Astrug697F.3d 642, 646 (7th Cir. 2012)If a decision
‘lacks evidentiary support or is poorly articulated as to prevent meaningful reviewemand is
required. (quotingSteele v. BarnharR90F.3d 936, 940 (7th Cir. 2002)htanna v. Astrug395F.
App'x 634, 636 (11th Cir. 201Q) The ALJ must state the grounds for his decision wlityl to
enable us to conduct meaningful revigwBray v. Comrir of Soc. Sec. Admin554F.3d 1219,
1226 (9th Cir. 2009§"[ M]eaningful review of an administrative decision requires access to the
facts and reasons supporting that deci§jonThis is epecially the case on step five, where the
agency has the burden; to do otherwise woaftectively and impermissibly shift[] the burden
to the claimant.Chavez 895F.3d at 97¢see also Haddock v. Apfdl96 F.3d 1084, 1090 (10th
Cir. 1999)(“To relieve the ALJ of the burden to thoroughly develop the vocational evidence at
step five would shift the burden to the claimant in the form of a requiremermts®extamine the
vocational expert.”).

In other circumstanceshe ALJs decision to rely on a VBased solely on her expertise
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may present no issuéee, e.gBryant v. Comnr of Soc. Sec451F. App x 838, 839 (11th Cir.
2012) (“The Social Security regulations provide that an ALJ may rely on' s kftowledge and
expertise, and they do not require a VE produce detailed reports or statistiggpant ©f her
testimony’). Butin this case, whetbere were otthetecordobjections questioninifpereliability
of the VE's methodology, that decisioeffectively precludes meaningful judicial review
Ultimately, theALJ must develop the record aptbvidea sufficientbridge from the record to the
decisionso that a reviewing court can determine whether his reliance on the \dup@sted by
substantial evidencd-ailure to do so is cause for remar@ke Nunley v. BerryhjiNo. CV H17-
0072, 2018NL 1167700, at *9 (S.D. Tex. Feb. 14, 2018commendingemand because ALJ
failed to"develop the record on the reliability of the \éEestimony or provide® specific findings
on the reliability of either SkilTRAN or the VE jobincidence testimony to fulfill the
Commissionés stepfive burderi), report andrecommendation adopted sub nom. Nunley v.
Colvin, No. CV H17-00072, 2018VL 1122679 (S.D. Tex. Mar. 1, 2018edone v. Berryhill
No. 16CV-02767STV, 2018WL 460063, at *8 (D. Colo. Jan. 18, 2018) (finding that remand was
appropriate because ALJ failadevelop record by questioning VE about SkillTRANKeliability
based on post-hearing objections and further failed to provide sufficient reasommgginingful
review); Russell v. BerryhiJINo. 16CV-1251JPGCJP, 201 %L 3704354, at *6 (S.D. Ill. Ag.
28, 2017) (remanding case because ALJ failed to develop record on whyegimony was
reliable or provide reasoning in decision or response to claimant’s objections).

Because the ALJailed to do so herehis casemustbe remandedor rehearing The
Court’s remands narrow and limited only to the step five analysis of whether there is other work

that Mr. Henderson could perform.

19



B. The ALJs Discussion of Dr. Brosch’s Opinion

Second, Mr. Henderson argues that the ALJ failed to properly account for portions of
consultative psychological examirer. Broschsopinions. Pl’s Mot. at1l9-24. He contends that
the ALJ gave the opiniofisubstantial weigfit but failed to include'numerous likely work-
preclusive limitations found by Dr. Brosch in his RFC findingd. at 21. In response, the
Commissioner argues thite ALJ only gave substantial weight to Dr. Brascbpinion that Mr.
Henderson ¢ould follow and understand simple etitions”and that the ALJ was not required to
give weight to all of her opinions. Def.’s Combined Mem. and Opp’t6-17. Moreover, the
Commissioner contends that the RFC accounted for Dr. Brosch’s opinidnat 1719. The
Commissioner is correct.

As part of their duty to consider all the evidence in the record, ALJs mustieoasd
evaluate all medical opinions received based on several factors, including but teat tonihe
examining relationship, treatment relationship, length of treatmedationship, frequency of
examination, nature and extent of the treatment relationship, supportabilityresistency with
the rest of the record. ZD.F.R. §416.927(b)-q).1° While “ALJs need not mention every piece
of evidencé€, a “medical opinion from an examining consultative psychologist (like [Dr. Brpsch]
is not just another piece of evidericaMalters v. Astrued44F. App x 913, 917 (7th Cir. 2011)

The agenc own regulations specify that ALJs “may not ignore these opinions and musnexplai

10 1n his brief, Mr. Henderson cites the same provision to support his claim that the ALJ mus
always give “good reasons” for the weight given to opinions. The specific stanfémeshced by

Mr. Henderson, however, applies only to treating source&;.R®R. 8416.927(c)(2), ands
inapplicable here because Dr. Brosch was not a treating source but instead a ivensxdtatiner,

A.R. at 484-92. For the reasons given above, however, the ALJ still met the applicatdedsta

for Dr. Brosch’s opinions.
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the weight given to these opinions in their decisior8SR96-6p}* seeDavis v. Berryhil) 272F.
Supp. 3d 154, 174 (D.D.C. 201&ee alsoSSR 968p (“The RFC assessment must always
consider and address medical source opinidhthe RFC assessment conflicts with an opinion
from a medical source, the adjudicator must explain why the opinion was not ajopted.

Unlike a treating physiciaa opinionsa consultative examiner opinions, howevefare
not entitled to any presumption of weight and are therefore more easily réjedtthson v.
Colvin, 197F. Supp. 3d 60, 74 (D.D.C. 2016 And “the ALJ has no obligation to explicitly
enumerate each of the six factors described in the Social Security regulatiwrs discussing
the weight given to certain opinion&rant v. Astruge857 F. Supp. 2d 146, 155 (D.D.C. 2012)
Nevertheless,when there is reason to believe that an ALJ ignored importantreades when
an ALJ fails to discuss material, conflicting eviderearor exists. Walters 444 F. Appx at917.

First, he ALJ sufficiently discussed the weight he gave to Dr. Bigsgbinion. Thenain
portion ofthe decisiordiscussing the weight given to her opinion reads:

The undersigned gives substantial weight to the opinion of the consultative
examiner, Dr. Rebecca Brosch, that the claimant appears to be able to follow and
understand simple directions (Exhibit 11:HY. Dr. Brosch also opined thtite
claimant was mildly to moderately limited in his ability to perform simple tasks;
moderately limited in his ability to maintain attention and concentration; was able
to maintain a schedule; mildly to moderately limited in his ability to learn new
tasks; moderately to markedly limited in his ability to perform complex tasks
independentlymoderately to markedly limited in his ability to make appropriate
decisions, relate adequately with others, and appropriately deal with (&rdmbit
11F/78). Dr. Broschs opinion is generally consistent with the overall record and
gives the claimant the full benefit of the doubt regarding his mental health
allegations. Dr. Brosch is familiar with the Social Security program andhead
opportunity to conduct a clical interview with the claimant prior to rendering her
opinion.

A.R. at 21. Mr. Henderson argues that the first half of the first serteridee undersigned gives

11 While SSR96-6p was rescinded and replaced by SSRA7as of March 27, 2017, it was
applicable in this case at the hearing and decision,stagbe hearing occurred on June 28, 2016
and the decision was dated October 26, 2016. A.R. at 13.
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substantial weight to the opinion of the consultative examiner, Dr. Rebecca 'Brasghifies
that the ALJ gavleroverall opinionand all her findingsubstantial weight. Not so. The sentence
in full clarifies that the ALJ gave substantial weight t@ grarticular opinion of Dr. Brosch: that
Mr. Henderson wasable to follow and understand simple directibngd. The ALJwas not
required to performan itemized evaluatidrof each of Dr. Broscls findings. Hartline v. Astrue
605F. Supp. 2d 194, 20(D.D.C. 2009) see also McLaurin v. Colvii21F. Supp. 3d 134, 141
(D.D.C. 2015)(“Additionally, there is no requirement, as Plaintiff seems to argue, that the AL
must identify in her written ruling every discrete opinion of an applisaxpert and>glain the
reasons for rejecting each of thénffootnote omitted)). The ALJ noted all of Dr. Brosh
findingsandexplained the weight he gave to her opinion, laatherefore considereslfficiently
Dr. Broschs opinionand explained his assessmenit.of

SecondMr. Henderson further contends that the weight given to Dr. Bresgbinion,
both the overall opinion and the specific opinion that Mr. Henderson'‘alde to follow and
understand simple direction#\.R. at490-91 was inconsistent witthe ALJ sfinal RFCfinding.
Because the two were inconsistavit, Henderson claimshe ALJ had a duty to explain why that
was the case. |Ps Mot. at 21. This argumerd similarly unavailingbecauseghe ALJs RFC
finding accounted for Dr. Brosthopnion. The ALJs RFC finding stated that Mr. Henderson
was"“limited to simple, routine tasks, with a specific vocational preparation of 2 or beitw, w
few workplace chang€sA.R. at 18. He further found that Mr. Henderson céblave occasional
interaction with ceworkers and supervisors, but can never interact with the general pahtic,
that he“should not engage in any tandem, team, or group work activiy.

The ALJs RFC finding noted significariimitations that are consistent with Dr. Brosgh

opinions. For example, Dr. Brosch opined that Mr. Henderson was mildly to moderattdd |
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in his ability to perform simple tasks, A.R. at 491, and the RFC finding tefilleat by limiting

Mr. Henderson to “simple, routine tasks, with a specific vocational preparation of 2 or’lidlow

at 18. This also reflecteldr. Broschs notedmoderate limitatioron maintaining attention and
concentration, mild to moderate limitation to learn new tasks, marked limitation to make
appropriate decisions and appropriately deal with stress, and moderate to mat&é&dri in his
ability to perform complex tasks on his owi. at 491. The social limitatioristed by the ALJ
further reflect Dr. Broscls opinions that Mr. Henderson was markedly limited in his ability to
“relate adequately with othersld. Together, all the limitations in the RFC findiagcounted for

Dr. Broschs opinionst? Cf. Holland v. Berryhil| 273 F. Supp. 3d 55, 65 (D.D.C. 201fihding

that ALJ s finding limiting claimant tdjobs that involve simple instructions, limited contact with
others, and allowed him to be @ésk up to five percent of the workday due to his problems related
to focus and concentratidrsufficiently accounted for ik “mental impairments that affect his
ability to concentrate and interact with ottigrsCunningham v. Colvid6 F. Supp. 3d 26, 35
(D.D.C. 2014)(finding that ALJ“clearly considereédpsychiatric evaluatés conclusions along

with other evidence in record, including di@yday activities, and therefore RFC finding was

12 Citing SSR 8515, Mr. Henderson argues that “unambiguous Agency policy states that the
ability to adapt to the demands or ‘stress’ of the workplace is not necessaalynged for by
reducing the individual to a lower stress level.” Pl.’s Mot. at 22. He is cona&cS6R 8815
explains that “[a]ny impairmesrelated limitations created by an individual's response to demands
of work . .. must be reflected in the RFC assessment.” SSE58%He is also correct that SSR
85-15 rec@nizes that some “mentally impaired persons” may struggle in unskilled job® due t
limitations in handling stress and pressurel. However, neither SSR 8B nor any other
authority relied upon by Mr. Henderson specifies that an ALJ must make dioulpa RFC
finding if the claimant has limitations in dealing with stress. In fact, whemshgtg the impact

of stress and mental illness, SSR 85-15 clarifies that it “is not intended to sey uesumptive
limitations for disorders, but to emphasibe importance of thoroughness in evaluation on an
individualized basis.”ld. Considering the ALJ’s comprehensive discussion of Mr. Henderson'’s
mental limitations and the evidence in the record discussed above, the ALJ wadsnslyffic
thoroughhere
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consistent with record and supported by substantial evidence).

To the extent that the AL RFC finding coulgbotentiallybe viewed as inconsistent with
Dr. Broschs opinion, the ALJ explained his determination of Mr. Hendéssorental limitations
in other portions of his decisi@s well For instance, when discussing Mr. Hendersatéim of
affective disorder, the ALJ ned that héhas never received any mental health treatment and [was]
not taking any mental health medication, which [was] inconsistent with his allegjatidrR. at
20. The ALJ explained that Mr. Henderson worked in 2011, despite originally havingsain o
date in 2009, and did not provide any medical evidence suggesting that his symptomesdhairsen
that point. Id. These facts, plus othersyggested to the ALJ thdtis symptoms may not be as
severe as has been allegeldl” In his step three anais,moreoverthe ALJ provided information
that he saw as undercutting Mr. Hendeisanental health claims, including that Mr. Henderson
performed light household chores, was able to go shopping, handled his finances on hisiown, we
to church twice a eek, spent time with his family, had never been laid off for not getting along
with others, handled changes in routine well, was able to finish what rexiséend did well with
both spoken and written instructionkl. at 17 see alsdHolland, 273F. Siypp. 3dat 64 (“When
evaluating a claimatst testimony about his functional capacity, an ALJ may take into account the
claimants level of daily activity). The ALJ therefore sufficiently explained any potential
inconsistency between his RFC finding d&brd Broschis opinion.

In short, the ALJ evaluated the evidence in the record regarding Mr. Heridensemtal
impairments, explained the persuasiveness of the evidence and of Dr. 8rogthion,
incorporated Dr. Brosch findings into his RFC findingand explained any potential
inconsistencies between his finding and Dr. Brosapinion. The Court canndteweigh the

evidence and replace the [SSA Commissi@jgudgment regarding the weight of the evidence
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with its own” Cunninghamv. Colvin 46 F.Supp. 3dat 36 (internal quotation marks omitted)
(quoting Brown v. Barnhart 370F. Supp. 2d 286, 288 (D.D.C. 2005)).helALJ ultimately
provided d'logical bridgé from Dr. Broschs opinionto his ultimate RFC findings requireénd
his finding on Mr. Hendersos mental impairments and RFihding were supported by
substantial evidencd.ane-Rauth437 F. Supp. 2dt67.

C. The ALJs Failure toAddress or Consider Dr. AleskosvTestimony

Mr. Hendersots third argument is thdhe ALJ failed to make any finding regarding his
tremors during step two, which impacted the ultimate step five finding that theALJ’'s
reasoning was deficient because'fiad[ed] to discuss numerous § 416.927(c) factors that [were]
plainly relevanhere’ Pl’s Mot.at 25. As part of this argument, he also claims that the ALJ erred
by notconsideringDr. Aleskowss report or weigimg his opinion and by only briefly addressing
Dr. Taubinis report. Id. at 26. While he ALJ did natiscuss Dr. Aleskove report at length, when
his decision is read as a whoikjs clear that the ALIhoroughlyconsidered the consultative
examinersopinions as to Mr. Henderstsitremors and sufficiently explained why he found their
opinions tonot be wellsupportedor consistent with other evidence in the recoBteKeene v.
Berryhill, 732F. App x 174, 177 (4th Cir. 2018 We must read the ALS decsion as a wholg;
Fullen v. Comnr of Soc. Se¢.705F. Appgx 121, 124 (3d Cir. 201 qstating that ALJ decision
must be reatlas a whold; Summers v. Colvjr634F. Appg x 590, 593 (7th Cir. 201&Explaining
that court reads ALJ’s decisioas a whole”)

First, the ALJ satisfied his duty to consider all evidence in the record, including medical
opinions, and did not overlook Dr. Aleskswreport. See20 C.F.R. 8416.927(b)-q); SSR 963p.
TheALJ's decisionhereexplicitly referenced DAleskow’s report, such aa the context of what

Mr. Henderson told the physiciartee, e.gA.R. at 19(*However, [Mr. Henderson] reported to
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the consultative examiner Dxleskowthat he is able to sit for 48inutes at a time, stand fb0—
15 minutes, walk a % block, and lift up to 10 pounds (Exhibit 7§/4Yhe ALJ also cited to the
report throughout his decisionSee id.at 16 19, 20, 21(all citing Exhibit 7F, Dr.Aleskow s
report) Thesecitations demonstrate that the Apdoperlyconsidered, and did not overlook or
ignore, Dr. Aleskows report.

Moreover, Dr. Taubirs opinion on Mr. Henderstsm tremors—which the ALJ did address
at length—mirrored that of Dr. Aleskow. For instandar, Aleskownoted that Mr. Henderson had
a resting tremor of unknown etiologifyatwas worse on the right than the laftdthatled to him
having some difficulties with fine motor skills, such as fastening or snapping bueesid at
443-46(mentioning temorsthroughout.*® Dr. Taubin similarly noted that Mr. Henderson Had
fine tremor of his right hanand a‘[ h]istory of a tremof, which resulted irfdifficulty writing
with the hand. Id. at 454-55. He also explained that Mr. Henderson had 3/5 grip on the right
hand and 5/5 on the left, and that he was able to Wrisshame on the card with no difficulty.
Id. at 454. Heconcludedhat Mr. Henderson could ntase fine dexterity because of tremor of his
right hand. Id. at455. The two physians opinions were thus substantially similar.

The ALJthoroughly considerethe record as tMr. Hendersobs tremors in the context of
Dr. Taubiris opinion.SeeA.R. at 21.The ALJultimatelygave little weight to Dr. Taubis opinion
because it was inconsistent with his corservationand the record as a whollel. The ALJ also
gave partial weight to the opinions of the State agency physical consulthontepined that Mr.
Henderson coultioccasionally handle and finger, but frequently feelhich he found consistent

with the record.ld. at 20. The ALJ cited in his decision to numerous medical records that were

13Dr. Aleskow did not explain whether some of this information, including the chiecklishich
he noted that Mr. Henderson was unable to fasten buttons or snaps, was based on Mr. Henderson
reporting or on some other source, such as an examin&ewe.g, A.R. at 446.
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consistent with his rejection of Dr. Tauksnopinion, whichwas substantit similar to Dr.
Aleskow’s opinion. See idat 21 (listing as examples pages from Exhibits 1F, 2F, 5F, 7F, and 8F);
see alspe.q, id. at 351 (Exhibit 1F, spine-say showing no degenerative changés)at 377
(Exhibit 2F, physical examination showinlgar lungs, normal gait, that he was fully oriented, and
that hehad no clubbing or other issues in extremitiés);at 422 (Exhibit 5F, treatment notes
explainingthat full radiographic workup showed no significant degenerative changes in. spine)
The ALJ further pointed out other inconsistencies with Dr. Tasbi@and by extensionDr.
Aleskow’s) opinion throughout his decision, including his discussion of Mr. Hendsrdasto-

day activities. See, e.g.id. at 17 And, importantly, his RFC findingltimately did limit Dr.
Henderson tdfrequent] rather than constantfine manipulation and gross handlihgyhich
incorporatedhe credited evidence regardiMy. Hendersots dexterity. Id. at 18. Even if the

ALJ did not explicitly discuss and assigreight to Dr. Aleskows opinion, his decision read as a
whole and theaccompanying substantial medical record make clear why the ALJ found the
physicians opinions as to Mr. Henders@ntremors*not wellsupported and inconsistent with
other evidence in threcord.” SeeGrant, 857 F. Supp. 2dt 153.

Altogether, the record indicates that the Adoimprehensivelgonsidered the evidence in
the record regarding Mr. Henderssriremors. Seeid. at 154-55(upholding ALJs finding that
opinion was not welsupported and inconsistent based decision as a whdleand “substantial
medical record in the cd3e It is true, as Mr. Henderson argues, that the ALJ did not enumerate
each of the factors listed in ZDF.R. §416.927(c) for Dr. Alesko¥® and Dr. Taubiis opinions.

But he did not need tdo so. SeeTurner v. Astruge 710F. Supp. 2d 95, 106 (D.D.C. 2010)
(“Cortrary to Turne'rs assertions, the ALJ was under no obligation to specifically enumerhte eac

of the six factors described in the Social Security regulatjon&ccordingly, Mr. Hendersds
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arguments here falil.
V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court SGERANT IN PART andDENY IN PART Mr.
Hendersors Motion for Judgment of Reversal aB&RANT IN PART andDENY IN PART the
Commissionés Motion for Judgment of Affirmance. In particular, the CREVVERSES AND
REMANDS the ALJs decision as to whether Mr. Hendersoimpairments prevented him from
doing other work. The CouBENIESthe remainder of Mr. HendersaMotion andAFFIRM S
the portions of the AL3decisionthat are not being remandedin appropriate Orderc@ompanies

this Memorandum Opinion.

Dated: October 28, 2019
/s/
COLLEEN KOLLAR-KOTELLY
United States District Judge
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